
By a majority vote, a public body may amend its agenda to add items. The additional items shall be for informational purposes only 
and may not be voted on except when necessary to address an unexpected occurrence requiring immediate action or to refer the 
matter to an appropriate committee pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws §42-46-6(b). 

Copies of Meeting Minutes may be obtained pursuant to RIPTA’s public records policy, which is available at 
https://www.ripta.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/APRA-External-Policy-and-Procedure.pdf. An interpreter for the deaf and hard 
of hearing can be provided by calling 784-9500 x1171 at least 48 hours in advance. The location is accessible to the handicapped. 

 

 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

 
Thursday, January 23, 2025 

1:30 p.m. 
269 Melrose Street, Providence 

Transportation Board Room 
 

The meeting can be watched online here:   
  
 

RIPTA Board of Directors January 23, 2025 

 
 

                                                                 AGENDA 

 

1. Board Approval To consider for approval the Draft Meeting Minutes of the Board of Directors 
Meeting of December 19, 2024. 

2. Board Approval To consider for approval the Draft Executive Session Meeting Minutes of the 
Board of Directors Meeting of December 19, 2024. 

3. Public Comment / 
Board Discussion 

Limited to 3 minutes per person. 

4. CEO Report • CEO Update 

• Key Initiatives  

• Budget 

• Ridership 

• On Time Preformance 

 

https://www.ripta.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/APRA-External-Policy-and-Procedure.pdf
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODlmYzVjYTYtMDQ5NS00NmE5LTllMzctMGE2Y2MyMGU2NzIw%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%22443ce251-0278-4dfa-96ac-922ce313e07c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%222fe838c4-c73c-4726-9c53-2d627652b0d9%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a


By a majority vote, a public body may amend its agenda to add items. The additional items shall be for informational purposes only 
and may not be voted on except when necessary to address an unexpected occurrence requiring immediate action or to refer the 
matter to an appropriate committee pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws §42-46-6(b). 

Copies of Meeting Minutes may be obtained pursuant to RIPTA’s public records policy, which is available at 
https://www.ripta.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/APRA-External-Policy-and-Procedure.pdf. An interpreter for the deaf and hard 
of hearing can be provided by calling 784-9500 x1171 at least 48 hours in advance. The location is accessible to the handicapped. 

 

 

 

 
5. 

 
Board Discussion / 
Potential Vote 

 
Request For Approval – Board Resolution regarding Federal Transit 
Administration Awards of Financial Assistance.  

6. Board Discussion/ 
Potential Vote  

Request for Approval – RIPTA Service Guidelines 

7. Board Discussion / 
Potential Vote 

Board Questions and Answers 

8. Executive Session Executive Session to consider, discuss and act upon such matters as may be 

closed to the public pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(1) Any discussions 

of the job performance, character, or physical or mental health of a person 

or persons provided that the person or persons affected shall have been 

notified in advance in writing and advised that they may require that the 

discussion be held at an open meeting), and R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(2) 

Sessions pertaining to collective bargaining or litigation, or work sessions 

pertaining to collective bargaining or litigation. 

9. Adjournment 
 

 
 

This Agenda has been posted on January 17, 2025 

https://www.ripta.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/APRA-External-Policy-and-Procedure.pdf


 

1 

 

 
 

Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, December 19, 2024 

1:30 p.m.  
269 Melrose Street, Providence 

Transportation Board Room 
 
 

Members Present: Director Peter Alviti, Board Chair; Robert Kells, Vice Chair; James Leach, 
Board Treasurer; Patrick Crowley, Board Secretary; Normand Benoit; 
Vincent Masino; Heather Schey 

 
Absent Members: James Lombardi, and Marcy Reyes.  
 
Also Present: Christopher Durand, CEO; Christopher Fragomeni, Esq., Board Counsel; Roy 

Rivers, Executive Paralegal; Jacqueline Weidinger, Administrative Assistant-
Executive Office; members of RIPTA’s staff; and members of the public. 

 
Call to Order: Mr. Kells calls the meeting to order at 1:31 p.m., indicating that quorum was 

present.  
 
  
Agenda Item 1: To consider for approval the Draft Meeting Minutes of the Board of 

Directors Meeting of November 21, 2024. 
 
Mr. Crowley makes a motion to approve the minutes of the October 24, 2024, meeting.  Mr. Benoit  
seconds, and the motion passes with favorable votes by Mr. Kells, Mr. Leach, Ms. Schey and Mr. Masino.  
Director Alviti was not present for the vote.  
 
 
Agenda Item 2: To consider for approval the Draft Executive Session Meeting Minutes of 

the Board of Directors Meeting of November 21, 2024. 
 
Mr. Crowley makes a motion to approve the executive session minutes of the October 24, 2024, 
meeting.  Mr. Leach seconds, and the motion passes with favorable votes by Mr. Kells, Ms. Schey, Mr. 
Benoit, and Mr. Masino.  Director Alviti was not present for the vote.  
 
 
Director Alviti enters the meeting at 1:33 pm.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

2 

 

Agenda Item 3: Public Comment 
 

1. John Flaherty – Growth Smart RI  
• States that Growth Smart RI is excited about the CEO and new leadership. States that 

the public has growing confidence under the new leadership and the budget is a 
step in the right direction considering riders, drivers and service.  

 

2.  Kevin Simon- Matthewson Street Church 
• Gives thanks to RIPTA regarding the pilot program and its efforts to provide 

transportation.  
• States Matthewson Street Church is grateful for service, discounted fares and 

transportation to from jobs, home, and church. 
 

3. Daria Phoebe Brashear  
• States she is happy about Kennedy Plaza signage.  
• Comments on ridership recovery.  
• Comments regarding the 95X out to Westerly has been corrected and students and 

homeless are being addressed.   
 

4. Randall Rose – Kennedy Plaza Coalition 
• States budget is thoughtful and meets the needs of riders.   
• Appreciates the continuation of the Free Fare Program.  
• Is thankful for the progress RIPTA has made, and wants RIPTA to be more stringent 

with contracts with vendors when considering ATMS and real time, and should look 
at other ways to structure contracts in the future.  

• Comments regarding more public engagement and transparency regarding the 
moving of the transit center.  
 

5. Dylan Giles – Safe RIPTA  
• States that Save RIPTA is happy with the increase of drivers.   
• Comments on the Amazon route being successful.   
• Is happy with the collaboration between RIPTA and the Governor’s Office. 

 

6. Grant Dulgarian  
• States he is very happy with the CEO choice.   
• He states he is against moving the bus hub from Kennedy Plaza., and requests an 

ridership impact statement.   
• Requests heaters be placed in bus shelters in Kennedy plaza.  
• Wants collaboration from the city of Providence to help with ridership. 

 

7. Paula Vinacco (received via email) 
• Ms. Vinacco requested that the following be read in her absence:  

 
I respectfully request that the RIDE anywhere pilot program be extended 
into 2025. I understand the program is slated to end after 2024 data has 
been collected.  However, I am under the impression that there are still 
monies available through the grant. Since the program may not continue 
until the general assembly meets and passes a permanent program in June 



 

3 

 

2025, many disabled passengers throughout the state will not be able to take 
advantage of public transportation, causing isolation and missed healthcare 
opportunities.  Passengers that are beyond the 3/4 of a mile RIPTA corridor 
are not able to secure reliable transportation. They (we) deserve the same 
transportation options. Many of these disabled people, especially in 
wheelchairs, do not have these options. On a more personal note, this past 
year, using the RIDE anywhere program has been a game changer for me. I 
have utilized the program an average of 2 to 3 times a week, and it has 
improved my physical and mental health immensely. I am no longer 
homebound, and I am able to take advantage of the multiple sclerosis (MS) 
center that I belong to, as well as the YMCA.  If this program were to end, 
even for just a few months, my health would suffer.  Please strongly consider 
renewing this program without interruption. Thank you very much. 

 
  

Agenda Item 4: CEO Report 
 
Christopher Durand, RIPTA’s CEO, provided updates regarding employee spotlight, service, budget 
including financial comparisons, ridership, on time performance, post covid ridership recovery, low-
income pilot program, bus stop improvement program, and Ride Anywhere pilot.    
 
No vote is taken.     
 
 
Agenda Item 5:   Request for Approval – BOD  – 2025 Annual Meeting Schedule    
 
Christopher Durand, CEO makes the request.  
 
Mr. Massino makes a motion to approve the request.  Ms. Schey seconds, and the motion passes 
with favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Leach, Mr. Benoit, and Mr. Crowley.  
 
 
Agenda Item 6: Request for Approval – RIPTA Safety Plan  
 
Christopher Durand, CEO and James Pereira, Chief of Security and Operations, make the request. 
 
Mr. Crowley makes a motion to approve the request.  Ms. Schey seconds and the motion passes with 
favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Leach, Mr. Benoit and Mr. Masino.  
 
 
Agenda Item 7: Request For Approval – Winter 2025 Service Changes  
 
Christopher Durand, CEO and Edward Brown, Executive Director of Service Planning and 
Scheduling make the request. 
 
Mr. Benoit makes a motion to approve the request.  Ms. Schey seconds and the motion passes with 
favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Leach, Mr. Crowley and Mr. Masino. 
 
 
 



 

4 

 

Agenda Item 8: Request For Approval – Approval of FY 2025 Financial Plan  
 
Christopher Durand, CEO and Nathan Watchous, Executive Director Financial Planning and Analysis 
make the request.   
 
Mr. Crowley makes a motion to approve the request.  Mr. Leach seconds and the motion passes with 
favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Benoit, Ms. Schey and Mr. Masino. 
 
 
Agenda Item 9: Request For Approval – Conduent Contract – KP Signage  
 
Christopher Durand, CEO and Gary Jarvis, Deputy Chief Of Information Technology, and John 
Chadwick, Deputy Chief Procurement, Inventory and Vehicle Operations make the request.  
 
Mr. Benoit makes a motion to approve the request.  Mr. Crowley seconds and the motion passes 
with favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Leach, Ms. Schey and Mr. Masino. 
 
 
Agenda Item 10: Request For Approval – Paratransit Fare Products / Pay As You Go  
 
Christopher Durand, CEO makes the request.   
 
Mr. Leach makes a motion to approve the request.  Ms. Schey seconds and the motion passes with 
favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Crowley, Mr. Benoit and Mr. Masino. 
 
 
Agenda Item 11: Board Questions and Answers 
 
No comments were made.  No votes were taken.  
 
 
Agenda Item 12: Executive Session to consider, discuss and act upon such matters as 

may be closed to the public pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(1) 
Any discussions of the job performance, character, or physical or 
mental health of a person or persons provided that the person or 
persons affected shall have been notified in advance in writing and 
advised that they may require that the discussion be held at an open 
meeting), R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(2)  Sessions pertaining to 
collective bargaining or litigation, or work sessions pertaining to 
collective bargaining or litigation, and R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(5), 
Any discussions or considerations related to the acquisition or lease of 
real property for public purposes, or of the disposition of publicly held 
property wherein advanced public information would be detrimental 
to the interest of the public. 

 
Attorney Fragomeni reports that pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(1), the person(s) who are 
to be discussed were informed, prior to the meeting, and did not request the matter(s) be discussed 
in open session.   
 



 

5 

 

Mr. Leach motions to enter executive session.  Mr. Benoit seconds, and the motion passes with 
favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Crowley, Ms. Schey and Mr. Masino.   
 
The Board enters into Executive Session to consider, discuss and act upon such matters as may be 
closed to the public pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(1) Any discussions of the job 
performance, character, or physical or mental health of a person or persons provided that the 
person or persons affected shall have been notified in advance in writing and advised that they may 
require that the discussion be held at an open meeting), R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(2)  Sessions 
pertaining to collective bargaining or litigation, or work sessions pertaining to collective bargaining 
or litigation, and R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-46-5(a)(5), Any discussions or considerations related to the 
acquisition or lease of real property for public purposes, or of the disposition of publicly held 
property wherein advanced public information would be detrimental to the interest of the public. 
 
The Board and Counsel enter into Executive Session at 2:35pm. 
 
The Board and Counsel enter public session at 3:16pm. 
 
Attorney Fragomeni reports that only two votes were taken during Executive Session: one, which 
was sealed, and the other to adjourn Executive Session. 
 
Mr. Benoit makes a motion to seal the minutes of the Executive Session.  Mr. Crowley seconds, and 
the motion passes with favorable votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Leach, Mr. Masino and Ms. 
Schey.   
 
 
Agenda Item 13: Adjournment – 3:19pm 
  
Mr. Crowley makes a motion to adjourn.  Ms. Schey seconds, and the motion passes with favorable 
votes by Director Alviti, Mr. Kells, Mr. Leach, Mr. Benoit and Mr. Masino. 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
_______________________________ 
Patrick Crowley, Secretary 



JANUARY 2024 I  MONTHLY FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL REPORT  I   BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING



CEO UPDATE

Public Hearings on Proposed Service Changes
RIPTA held public hearings on proposed service changes on December 4 in Warwick and December 5 in Providence. The proposed service changes will affect 
Routes 10X, 28, 29, 35, 72, and 78 and include an increase of service frequency on some high performing routes, new service to a major employment center and 
the elimination of a low-performing route segment. Additionally, minor changes to Providence School afternoon service were addressed.

RIde Anywhere Pilot Program Extended Until Further Notice 
For the past year, RIPTA's RIde Anywhere Pilot Program has been offering unrestricted, statewide curb-to-curb service for qualified passengers with disabilities 
who were previously limited to traveling within ¾ of a mile from fixed bus routes, as mandated by the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). From January 
through December, riders took 7,391 trips through the program, including 1,182 trips scheduled by new users. The pilot has been extended until further notice.

Newport Transportation Center – Customer Service Kiosk
The Customer Service Kiosk closed for the season on December 31, 2024, and is scheduled to reopen in May.

Fill A Bus Toy Drive                                                                                                         
RIPTA proudly joined forces with the Providence Bruins for the Fill A Bus Toy Drive to benefit the U.S. Marine Corps Reserve Toys for Tots Program. RIPTA helped 
the players deliver a busload of toys to children at Hasbro Children’s Hospital. The toys were donated by the team and the many generous hockey fans, 
including RIPTA employees, who brought in gifts to Providence Bruins games throughout December. The community came together to fill an entire bus with 
toys, ensuring countless children experienced the magic of the holiday season. 

Elder Angel Giving Tree
RIPTA staff embraced the spirit of giving by donating to the Elder Angel Giving Tree, a program focused on filling holiday wish lists for older adults in our 
community. From bus drivers to mechanics to our office employees, there was no shortage of generosity with workers donating hundreds of items for our gift 
drive to benefit older adults at the West Warwick Senior Center.



Workforce Development
4 van operators hired

4 mechanical personnel hired

4 van operators transferred to fixed route

Service Improvements

Service changes take effect January 18, 2025

Developing projections for service improvements

Amenity Improvements
Signs for Kennedy Plaza up for consideration by Board

Finalization of shelter sign proposal

Performance Data and Benchmarking

Developing work plan for service schedule compared to             
actual along with process for service improvements

KEY INITIATIVES



BUDGET - ACTUAL

• Federal Subsidies are over budget in December due to some catch 

up ADA reimbursements.

• No relief funding drawdowns in December.

• Contract Services are under budget this month due to timing of 

larger project invoices.

• Operating Expenses are under budget due to lower-than-expected 

fuel costs and fewer engine replacements.

This report reflects the FY 2025 Revised Budget as approved by the Board of Directors in December 2024. 

Budget Actual VAR $ VAR %

Federal Subsidies $3,292,469 $7,435,003 $4,142,534 125.8%

Federal Subsidies-CARES Act $0 $0 $0 0.0%

State Subsidies $3,691,529 $3,318,478 ($373,051) -10.1%

Other Revenue $834,828 $450,193 ($384,634) -46.1%

Passenger Fares $881,467 $874,023 ($7,444) -0.8%

Third Party Fares $1,383,317 $1,359,731 ($23,586) -1.7%

Special Project Revenue $244,542 $0 ($244,542) 0.0%

Total Revenue $10,328,151 $13,437,428 $3,109,278 30.1%

Budget Actual VAR $ VAR %

Salaries & Fringe Benefits $8,379,102 $8,522,470 ($143,368) -1.7%

Contract Services $1,125,948 $502,973 $622,975 55.3%

Operating Expense $2,108,492 $1,454,368 $654,125 31.0%

Utilities $168,810 $208,543 ($39,733) -23.5%

Capital Match & Repayment $43,947 $0 $43,947 100.0%

Debt Service $0 $0 $0 0.0%

Special Projects $119,542 $0 $119,542 0.0%

Total Expenses $11,945,840 $10,688,354 $1,257,487 10.5%

Surplus/(Deficit) ($1,617,690) $2,749,075 $4,366,764

Budget to Actual - December 2024

Budget-Actual FY 2025

Monthly

Current Year



BUDGET - ACTUAL

• Federal Subsidies are lower than budget through December due to 

timing of operating reimbursements. 

• No relief funding drawdowns through December due to state funding. 

Relief funding drawdowns likely to begin in January.

• State subsidies include a one-time infusion of funding for the FY25 

deficit.

• Contract services are lower than budget through the first half of the 

year due to timing of some larger projects. We expect more frequent 

invoices as these projects proceed.

• Operating expenses are under budget due to lower fuel costs and 

maintenance and engine replacement costs.

This report reflects the FY 2025 Revised Budget as approved by the Board of Directors in December 2024. 

Budget Actual VAR $ VAR %

Federal Subsidies $19,754,815 $14,734,368 ($5,020,447) -25.4%

Federal Subsidies-CARES Act $0 $0 $0 0.0%

State Subsidies $35,438,920 $35,955,257 $516,337 1.5%

Other Revenue $5,027,947 $3,181,361 ($1,846,586) -36.7%

Passenger Fares $5,584,620 $5,762,831 $178,211 3.2%

Third Party Fares $5,861,068 $4,829,405 ($1,031,663) -17.6%

Special Project Revenue $1,467,250 $0 ($1,467,250) 0.0%

Total Revenue $73,134,620 $64,463,222 ($8,671,398) -11.9%

Budget Actual VAR $ VAR %

Salaries & Fringe Benefits $54,450,004 $52,760,177 $1,689,827 3.1%

Contract Services $6,755,715 $3,481,209 $3,274,507 48.5%

Operating Expense $13,390,857 $7,459,874 $5,930,983 44.3%

Utilities $804,630 $913,010 ($108,380) -13.5%

Capital Match & Repayment $263,682 $0 $263,682 100.0%

Debt Service $0 $0 $0 0.0%

Special Projects $717,250 $0 $717,250 0.0%

Total Expenses $76,382,139 $64,614,270 $11,767,869 15.4%

Surplus/(Deficit) ($3,247,519) ($151,048) $3,096,471

Budget to Actual through December 31, 2024

Budget-Actual FY 2025

Year To Date

Current Year



MONTHLY RIDERSHIP

MONTHLY RIDERSHIP
December 2024 System-wide Ridership

RIDERSHIP DECREASED 3.5% IN DECEMBER 2024 FROM DECEMBER 2023
Fixed-Route ridership counts come from the Automatic Passenger Counts (APCs) from UTA.
Flex and RIde Paratransit ridership counts come from Reveal tablets for RIde, and 3rd party reports for Taxi trips.

SYSTEM-WIDE FIXED-ROUTE FLEX RIDE PARATRANSIT



On Time Performance
On Time Performance (OTP) is based on Departure Time.
On Time is between 1 minute early and 5 minutes late. 

ABBG AVERAGE: 79%

ON TIME PERFORMANCE (OTP): FIXED-ROUTE

OTP DECREASED BY 0.5% IN DECEMBER 2024 FROM DECEMBER 2023

2024 2023 2022 2021

DECEMBER 76.4% 76.9% 80.2% 80.9%

NOVEMBER
OCTOBER
SEPTEMBER
AUGUST
JULY

74.0%
73.7%
72.7%
76.7%
78.0%

77.9%
77.3%
77.0%
79.3%
79.5%

79.2%
78.3%
78.1%
81.3%
81.0%

79.3%
78.6%
79.1%
81.5%
81.8%

MAY
APRIL

73.4%
76.5%

78.6%
81.3%

81.1%
81.7%

81.6%
83.2%

MARCH 78.3% 82.4% 82.2% 84.2%

FEBRUARY 78.3% 82.2% 81.3% 84.1%

JANUARY 77.3% 82.4% 82.2% 83.0%

ON TIME PERFORMANCE



LOST TRIPS BY DAY









Rhode Island Public Transit 

Authority 

Transit Service 

Guidelines 

December 2024 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

1 

 

Table of Contents 

 Page 

1 Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 3 

2 Service Types .................................................................................................................... 5 

3 Service Design Principles ............................................................................................... 12 

Service Design Best Practices ....................................................................................................................12 

4 Service Coverage and Appropriate Service Types ....................................................... 20 

Population ........................................................................................................................................................20 

Employment .....................................................................................................................................................27 

5 Service Levels .................................................................................................................. 34 

Service Spans ...................................................................................................................................................34 

Service Frequencies and Advance Reservations ................................................................................35 

6 Service Quality ................................................................................................................ 38 

On-Time Performance .................................................................................................................................38 

Maximum Passenger Loads .......................................................................................................................39 

7 Productivity..................................................................................................................... 41 

Passengers per Revenue Hour or trip ....................................................................................................41 

Farebox Recovery ..........................................................................................................................................42 

8 Service Evaluation and Changes ................................................................................... 43 

Regular Service Change Process ..............................................................................................................43 

Service Changes Related to Changes in Funding Levels ................................................................46 

9 Bus Stops ......................................................................................................................... 49 

Bus Stop Spacing ...........................................................................................................................................49 

Bus Stop Typologies .....................................................................................................................................51 

10 Service Partnerships ....................................................................................................... 53 

11 Appendices ...................................................................................................................... 56 

Appendix A: Service Maps Fixed-Route Transit .................................................................................56 

Appendix B: Existing Services by Type...................................................................................................59 

  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

2 

Table of Figures & Tables 

Figure 1 R-Line Rapid Bus ............................................................................................................................ 6 

Figure 2 Route 20 Elmwood Ave/T.F. Green Airport Frequent Bus .............................................. 7 

Figure 3 Route 34 East Providence/Seekonk Square Local Bus .................................................... 8 

Figure 4 Route 66 URI/CCRI Warwick/Providence Regional Bus .................................................. 9 

Figure 5 Route 204 Westerly Flex Service ............................................................................................10 

Figure 6 RIPTA RIde Paratransit Service................................................................................................11 

Figure 7 Downtown Providence Mixed-Use Environment ............................................................17 

Figure 8 Bus Lane on Dorrance Street in Providence ......................................................................19 

Figure 9 Rhode Island Population Density (2022) ............................................................................21 

Figure 10 Relative Propensity to Use Transit Based on Socioeconomic Characteristics 

(2022) ................................................................................................................................................24 

Figure 11 Adjusted Population Density Based on Relative Transit Propensity (2022) ..........26 

Figure 12 Employment Density by Census Block Group (2022) ....................................................28 

Figure 13 Development of Underlying Demand Estimates .............................................................29 

Figure 14 Total Transit Demand by Census Block Group (2022) ...................................................31 

Figure 15 Underlying Transit Demand and Generally Appropriate Transit Types ..................32 

Figure 16 RIPTA Bus Stop Types and Required, Preferred, and Optional Amenities ............52 

Figure 17 RIPTA Statewide System Map (2022) ...................................................................................57 

Figure 18 RIPTA Metro Providence System Map (2022) ...................................................................58 

 

Table 1 Relative Transit Propensity (2022) .........................................................................................22 

Table 2 Transit Demand Index and Underlying Transit Demand ..............................................30 

Table 3 Minimum Span of Service Guidelines ..................................................................................34 

Table 4 Minimum Service Frequencies ................................................................................................36 

Table 5 On-Time Performance Measures and Goals .....................................................................39 

Table 6 Average Vehicle Loading Maximums ...................................................................................40 

Table 7  Vehicle Capacities ........................................................................................................................40 

Table 8 Productivity Guidelines by Service Type .............................................................................41 

Table 9 Minimum Farebox Recovery ....................................................................................................42 

Table 10  Productivity Targets for New and Upgraded Routes ...................................................45 

Table 11 Bus Stop Spacing Guidelines ...................................................................................................50 

Table 12 RIPTA Bus Stop Typologies ......................................................................................................51 

Table 13 Existing Services by Type ..........................................................................................................59 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

3 

1 INTRODUCTION 
The Rhode Island Public Transportation Authority (RIPTA) strives to provide quality transit service in a 

cost-effective manner that is consistent and equitable. To do so, RIPTA must make a number of 

competing decisions on where demand is greatest, on which types of service would work best and 

be most appropriate, and where limited resources can and should be used. To do this, RIPTA has 

developed these service guidelines that will be used to:  

▪ Determine where service should be provided 

▪ Design service 

▪ Determine appropriate service levels 

▪ Measure and establish minimum levels of service performance 

This document presents the following service guidelines by chapter: 

1. Introduction, which provides a description of the contents included in this document and 

overview of the following sections  

2. Service Types, which describes the different types of service that RIPTA now provides and 

may provide in the future 

3. Service Design Principles, which describes how RIPTA designs its services 

4. Service Coverage and Appropriate Service Types, which describes how RIPTA decides 

where and which types of service to provide 

5. Service Levels, which describes how RIPTA determines how much service to provide 

6. Service Quality, which describes how RIPTA measures services quality and its performance 

goals 

7. Productivity, which describes how RIPTA ensures that its services are productive 

8. Service Evaluation and Service Changes, which describes how RIPTA evaluates the 

effectiveness of its services and makes revisions 

9. Bus Stops, which provide guidance on bus stop spacing, stop location considerations, and 

amenities 

10. Service Partnerships, which lays out RIPTA’s policies and approaches to working with 

outside partners to fund additional RIPTA service 

The service guidelines will be applied to the entire family of services provided by RIPTA and are 

intended to bring clarity and consistency to the process of continually adjusting and improving 

transit services to meet varied and changing customer needs. This document addresses the design 

and scheduling of service and does not address amenities at transit stops and stations. In most cases, 

the service guidelines define minimum thresholds that must be met, and most services would exceed 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

4 

the minimum thresholds. However, the guidelines are also designed to—within limits— provide 

flexibility to respond to varied customer needs and community expectations in an accountable, 

equitable, and efficient manner. Finally, it should be noted that adherence to these service guidelines 

is dependent upon resource availability, and particularly the amounts of funding provided by RIPTA’s 

local partners. In the event of constrained resources, RIPTA will meet these guidelines as closely as 

possible and will work to achieve consistency as resources permit.  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

5 

 

2 SERVICE TYPES 
RIPTA provides a family of service types that are designed to meet a wide array of travel needs. The 

specific routes and services included in each class are presented in Appendix B. The types of public 

transit service are: 

▪ Light Rail (LRT) 

▪ Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 

▪ Rapid Bus 

▪ Frequent Bus (15 minutes or better)  

▪ Local Bus  

▪ Regional Bus 

▪ Flex  

▪ Specialized Services  

▪ Paratransit (RIde) 

Light Rail 

Light rail (LRT) is a type of rail service that generally operates in exclusive lanes in the median of 

major arterials. It is designed to provide very high quality and frequent service in high volume travel 

corridors. Operation in exclusive lanes, transit signal priority at intersections, and raised platforms, 

among other features, helps make service fast and reliable and high-quality stations provide 

comfortable places to wait for the trains. Service is frequent and operates for long hours. Light rail is 

the highest level of service that may be operated in the future but does require the greatest level of 

investment. Light rail has the ability to stimulate development and help create more livable corridors. 

As of 2024, RIPTA does not operate light rail, but RIPTA is currently performing an alternatives 

analysis study called the Metro Connector per Transit Master Plan recommendations. If light rail is 

determined, then RIPTA will produce guidelines in the future.  

Bus Rapid Transit 

Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) is a type of bus service that operates in a very similar manner to light rail, 

with buses operating in exclusive lanes for at least 50% of revenue miles. BRT operates along major 

arterials where transit volumes are very high. Like light rail, BRT couples exclusive lanes with transit 

signal priority at intersections and level platform boarding to make service fast and reliable. BRT 

stops are at stations that are very similar to light rail. Moreover, BRT provides frequent service for 

https://www.ripta.com/transitforwardri/


RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

6 

long hours and can stimulate development and create more livable corridors. BRT services also 

feature unique branding in the form of special route name designations and high-quality bus stops, 

premium amenities, and signage. 

As of 2024, RIPTA does not operate BRT, but RIPTA is currently performing an alternatives analysis 

study called the Metro Connector per Transit Master Plan recommendations. If BRT is determined, 

then RIPTA will produce guidelines in the future.  

Rapid Bus 

Rapid Bus service includes most of the same elements as BRT, but with the key difference that it 

operates mostly in mixed traffic. Like BRT, Rapid Bus uses transit signal priority and level boarding to 

make service faster and more reliable, and often includes some sections with bus lanes. More 

typically, Rapid Bus uses queue jump lanes, which are short bus lanes leading up to intersections to 

bypass queued traffic. Rapid Bus features frequent service for long hours. Stations are more modest 

than BRT stations, but do include high quality amenities such as shade, seating, real-time 

information, and more. RIPTA’s current Rapid Bus service, the R-Line, includes exclusive branding and 

can be differentiated from other services by their long service hours, frequent service, and higher 

quality stations.  

Figure 1 R-Line Rapid Bus  

 

https://www.ripta.com/transitforwardri/


RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

7 

As of 2024, RIPTA operates one Rapid Bus route, the “R-Line” that operates between Pawtucket and 

the Providence/Cranston line via Downtown. RIPTA's Transit Master Plan recommends that an 

additional six (6) routes be upgraded to Rapid Bus service in the future. 

Frequent Bus 

Frequent Bus service is an important part of RIPTA’s Transit Master Plan recommendations which 

includes 9 high-capacity transit lines and 10 frequent local services. Frequent bus routes are high 

ridership routes that operate at least every 15 minutes for most of the day, seven days a week. These 

routes may include some segments with Rapid Bus-like features but generally do not. As of 2024, 

RIPTA operates eight (8) Frequent bus routes that are designed to complement light rail, BRT, and 

Rapid Bus lines to provide a robust network of frequent services to make it convenient to travel to 

most of Rhode Island’s most important destinations.  

Figure 2 Route 20 Elmwood Ave/T.F. Green Airport Frequent Bus  

https://www.ripta.com/transitforwardri/
https://www.ripta.com/transitforwardri/


RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

8 

Local Bus 

Local Bus service is RIPTA’s most common type of bus service and are bus routes that operate less 

frequently than every 15 minutes. RIPTA does employ some Rapid Bus and BRT-type elements on 

Local Bus routes such as level-boarding platforms, bus lanes, and transit signal priority, but the 

routes generally operate in mixed-traffic without transit priority measures and with standard bus 

stop facilities. 

Local Bus routes are intended to serve a wide spectrum of transit demand levels ranging from 

moderately high to moderately low, and most of RIPTA’s routes are local routes. 

Figure 3 Route 34 East Providence/Seekonk Square Local Bus 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

9 

Regional Bus 

Regional Bus routes are designed primarily to provide commuter and recreational trip service to and 

from Downtown Providence. These routes typically make a limited number of stops in outer areas 

and then travel non-stop to their final destinations on highways and other major roads. As of 2024, 

RIPTA operates four Regional Bus routes. 

Figure 4 Route 66 URI/CCRI Warwick/Providence Regional Bus  

 

Flex  

As of 2024, RIPTA operates six flex routes, Flex service is shared van or small vehicle service designed 

to provide service to lower demand markets within designated zones, connections to fixed-route 

services, and service to special destinations such as supermarkets and medical facilities. 

To use Flex Service, passengers can either make a reservation 24 hours in advance via phone or when 

boarding the Flex Vehicle at any of the scheduled Flex Stops within the Flex Zone.  

Flex Service expands the menu of mobility options for residents living outside of urban areas, 

providing them with convenient, affordable transportation within their communities and an 

opportunity to make seamless connections to other destinations in Rhode Island.  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

10 

Figure 5 Route 204 Westerly Flex Service  

 

Specialized Services  

Specialized Service routes provide service for different circumstances such as large events and long-

term service deviations, with specific schedules. Specialized Service routes also include express routes 

that typically operate a limited number of trips on weekdays during peak periods only. 

Paratransit 

RIPTA’s RIde Paratransit program is a shared-ride, door-to-door program available for those who are 

functionally unable to independently use RIPTA’s fixed-route system either all the time, temporarily 

or under certain circumstances. The paratransit service is available to customers who have been 

deemed eligible through an evaluation process based on one’s ability to use the fixed-route system, 

which may be determined through an in-person functional ability assessment process. Disability 

alone does not determine eligibility. The functional assessment includes a mock trip to and from the 

bus and evaluates skills such as balance, strength, coordination and range of motion. 

RIPTA’s provides paratransit service to all areas of the state within ¾ of a mile of all existing RIPTA 

fixed-route services. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

11 

Paratransit trips can be scheduled for any purpose as late as the day before. Standing Orders, which 

are trips that occur on a daily or weekly basis such as trips to work or school, may be scheduled 

once. Passengers can book a trip via phone between 8:30 AM to 4:30 PM Monday through Saturday 

except holidays. 

Figure 6 RIPTA RIde Paratransit Service 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

12 

3 SERVICE DESIGN PRINCIPLES 
RIPTA strives to serve as many of Rhode Island residents, workers, and visitors as possible with the 

resources that it has available. To do so effectively, RIPTA needs to serve a wide variety of riders, trip 

types, and demands and RIPTA must strike a balance that works for most passengers and 

prospective riders. In many cases, and as described in the previous chapter, this is done by providing 

a variety of types of services. While the characteristics of each type of service varies, there are many 

overarching principles that RIPTA follows to design high-quality service for nearly all riders. 

SERVICE DESIGN BEST PRACTICES 

 

Service Should be Simple 

Transit service should be designed so that it is easy to understand. This 

allows existing and potential riders to learn about the options that are 

available to take them where and when they want to go without 

experiencing frustration. Simpler routes attract new riders more quickly 

and are better able to serve occasional riders. Simpler routes also 

reduce operational challenges. Most of the guidelines in this chapter 

are aimed at making service intuitive, logical, and easy to understand. 

  

Fast is Better than Slow  

Everyone wants to get where they are going quickly and easily. Faster 

service doesn’t just save people minutes. It also means that they can 

reach more jobs and services in a reasonable amount of time. Less time 

spent riding the bus means more time to do things that are more 

productive, more necessary, and more fun. Faster service can also make 

the community more equitable – people with lower incomes spend 

more time waiting for almost everything – and waits for buses, 

transfers, and slow trips make this worse. Finally, faster service requires 

fewer resources for the RIPTA to provide than slow service, freeing up 

buses to be used for both higher frequency and additional coverage. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

13 

  

Transit Service Types Should be Matched to Market Demands  

As described in the previous chapter, RIPTA provides many different 

types of services that are designed to serve different types of markets. 

The types of services that RIPTA provides are determined based on a 

combination of transit demand, travel patterns, land use, locations of 

key destinations, and other related factors. In many areas, more than 

one type of service will be provided. For example, areas where frequent 

bus service operates along a major corridor will also have regular bus 

service operating on streets that cross it. Outer areas where a Regional 

Bus route provides service to downtown Providence may also have a 

Flex zone providing local service and connections to local routes. 

Additionally, paratransit operates in all areas within ¾- mile of fixed-

route bus service. 

 

Routes Should Operate Along a Direct Path 

The fewer directional changes a route makes, the easier it is to 

understand. Conversely, circuitous alignments are disorienting and 

difficult for riders to remember. Routes should not deviate from the 

most direct alignment unless there is a compelling reason.  

 

Major Transit Routes Should Operate Along Arterials  

Potential transit users have at least a basic knowledge of the region’s 

arterial road system and use that knowledge as points of reference.  

The operation of bus service along arterials therefore makes transit 

service easier to figure out and to use. It also makes service faster. 

 

Route Variants Should be Minimized 

To make service direct, the use of route deviations – the deviation of 

service from the most direct route on some trips – should be 

minimized. 

However, there are some instances when the deviation of service from 

the most direct route is appropriate, for example to provide service to 

major shopping centers, employment sites, schools, etc.  In these 

cases, the benefits of operating the route away from the main route 

must be weighed against the inconvenience caused to passengers 

already on board.  Route deviations should be implemented only if all 

of the following apply: 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

14 

▪ Overall route productivity (in terms of the number of people 

served per revenue vehicle hour) would be equal to or better 

than without the deviation. 

▪ The amount of time saved for people using the deviation would 

be equal to or greater than the additional time for other 

passengers. 

▪ The deviation would not interfere with the provision of regular 

service frequencies and/or the provision of coordinated service 

with other routes operating in the same corridor. 

In most cases where route deviations are provided, they should be 

provided on an all-day basis. Exceptions are during times when the 

sites that the route variants serve have no activity – for example, route 

deviations to shopping centers do not need to serve those locations 

early in the morning before retail employees start commuting to work. 

 

Routes Should be Symmetrical 

Routes should operate along the same alignment in both directions to 

make it easy for riders to know how to get back to where they came 

from. Routes should operate along the same alignment in both 

directions except in cases where such operation is not possible due to 

one-way streets or turn restrictions.  In those cases, routes are 

designed so that the opposite directions parallel each other as closely 

as possible. 

 

Routes Should Serve Well-Defined Markets 

The most effective transit routes serve key destinations where demand 

is high throughout the day, such as downtown Providence. Other key 

destinations include CCRI (Community College of Rhode Island), 

Brown University, Rhode Island School of Design (RISD), hospitals and 

larger clinics, grocery stores, major retailers, employment centers and 

event venues. All routes should serve at least one major destination or 

provide connections to routes that do. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

15 

 

Stops Should be Spaced to Balance Access and Speed 

Transit stops are the access points for transit services and should be 

conveniently located, for example, near major activity centers and 

close to crosswalks. However, transit stops are also the major reason 

that transit service is slower than driving. Most riders want service that 

balances convenience and speed, and the number and location of 

stops is a key component of determining that balance. With fixed-

route services, most passengers prioritize speed over short walks, and 

RIPTA’s stop spacing guidelines, which are described in RIPTA’s Rhode 

Island Bus Stop Design Guide, reflect this. Stop spacing for most fixed-

route services are described in terms of the maximum number of stops 

per mile, with ranges to reflect local conditions.  

A different approach is used for Flex service, that picks people up at 

designated stops located throughout a defined service zone. This 

service’s stop spacing guidelines are given in terms of stops per 

square mile. These services carry low volumes of passengers and 

consequently make fewer stops. Because of this, closer stop spacings 

do not slow service and more stops are made available. The stops are 

distributed throughout the zones in a manner that developed areas 

are within a convenient walking distance of stops. 

 

 

 

EQUITY CONSIDERATIONS 
RIPTA strives to provide service to everyone who lives, works, and visits developed areas in Rhode 

Island and to match the amount of service provided to transit need and ridership. Many of the 

region’s residents need and use transit to a much greater extent than others, particularly minority 

residents, households with low incomes, and those without a car or with few cars in their 

households. For example, Black residents use transit at over two times of the average resident, 

and those without cars use transit 7 times as much. In deciding where to provide service and how 

much service to provide, RIPTA doesn’t just look at just how many people live in different places 

but also at the characteristics of the people who live there. This enables the agency to provide 

services that make everyday activities easier and to provide important links to opportunities.  

https://www.ripta.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/RIPTA-Bus-Stop-Design-Guide_FINAL_240528.pdf
https://www.ripta.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/RIPTA-Bus-Stop-Design-Guide_FINAL_240528.pdf


RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

16 

 

Service Levels Should be Matched with Demand 

Within the parameters set by these service guidelines, RIPTA matches 

service spans and frequencies with demand, with more service provided 

where demand is high, and less service provided where use is low. This 

helps RIPTA provide service where it is most needed and to ensure that 

services are not overcrowded. 

 

Service Should Operate at Regular Intervals 

People can easily remember repeating patterns. For this reason, to the 

greatest extent possible, RIPTA schedules services to operate at regular 

headways – for example, every 15, 30, or 45 minutes. 

 

Timepoints Should be Used to Keep Service on Schedule 

Buses can get off schedule for many reasons. These include unexpected 

traffic congestion, the fact that some trips stop at more or fewer bus 

stops, some trips get more green lights while others hit more red lights, 

or differences in boarding speed of customers served. To get buses 

back on schedule when they are delayed, RIPTA includes some slack in 

its schedules and sets timepoints along routes. Buses that are running 

early hold at timepoints until a scheduled departure time, while those 

that are running on-time or late operate straight through. While it can 

be frustrating for passengers on buses that are running early to hold at 

a timepoint, this practice helps keep buses on-schedule and ensures 

that people don’t miss buses that are running early. 

How Others Can Help 

The service design principles presented above describe the best practices that RIPTA follows to 

provide the best service that it can. However, it is also important to note that RIPTA provides transit 

in an environment that is largely controlled by others such as RIDOT and the state’s cities and towns. 

In addition, decisions made by others, such as developers, can significantly impact the effectiveness 

of transit. RIPTA strives to collaborate closely with all relevant local and regional partners on projects 

and decisions that impact the public realm and transit operations. 

Land Use & Development 

Transportation and land use are fundamentally inter-connected, and development patterns influence 

transportation choices. For people to be able to use transit, they must easily be able to get to and 

from it. The overwhelming majority of transit riders – over 90% – do this by walking. Consequently, 

all other factors equal, more people will use transit in areas with good pedestrian conditions. People 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

17 

are also willing to walk farther in areas with comfortable walking conditions. Conversely, in areas with 

disconnected street networks, more people will choose to drive. 

Development patterns vary throughout Rhode Island. Many urban areas (e.g., Pawtucket, Providence) 

were developed with interconnected street networks that make it easy to get to and from the 

arterials where most transit operates. However, developments in suburban and rural areas provide 

only limited connections to nearby arterials, including enclosing walls that require long walks, and 

are set far back from the roadway. RIPTA provides transit to both types of areas, and ridership in 

some areas where walking conditions are difficult is very high. However, ridership will always be 

higher when land use and development patterns suit transit. Looking forward, a stronger focus on 

new development and roadway design that provides convenient access to transit will help to 

encourage transit ridership and minimize increases in traffic. 

At the same time, there is also a trend toward mixed-use development that works very well with 

transit. Looking forward, a stronger focus on new mixed-use development that provides convenient 

access to transit can also help to encourage transit ridership and minimize increases in traffic. 

Jurisdictions can promote these efforts through zoning and other land-use measures, subsidies, and 

incentives. 

Figure 7 Downtown Providence Mixed-Use Environment  

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

18 

Pedestrian Comfort and Safety 

Pedestrian comfort and safety play heavily into people’s decisions on whether they will use transit. In 

areas with poor and/or unsafe pedestrian conditions, they will only walk short distances, while in 

areas with good conditions, they will walk much longer distances. 

Pedestrian conditions vary greatly throughout Rhode Island. In some areas they are uncomfortable, 

with either no sidewalks or narrow sidewalks that are very close to fast moving traffic. Crossing the 

street can also be very difficult. There are signalized crossings at major intersections but wait times to 

cross are often long.  

To make walking more comfortable and safer for everyone, developers and jurisdictions can ensure 

that wide sidewalks with buffer zones are built into new roadway and development projects and curb 

cuts are located away from signalized crossing to allow for bus stops as close to crosswalks as 

possible. Mid-block crossings can also be installed in locations where large numbers of people cross 

streets.  

Statewide, Rhode Island has implemented a Complete Streets Initiative that provides guidance on 

additional ways to improve pedestrian comfort, convenience and safety. Information on these types 

of improvements can be viewed at: RIDOT Statewide Programs & Initiatives - Rhode Island Rhode 

Island Department of Transportation 

Transit Priority 

Taking transit is slower than driving, primarily because transit vehicles need to stop to pick up and 

drop off passengers. Slower service discourages many people from using transit. One way to reduce 

the time difference is by implementing transit priority treatments, such as: 

▪ Bus-only travel lanes 

▪ Queue jump lanes, which are short sections of bus lanes that allow buses to bypass queues at 

signalized intersections 

▪ Transit signal priority, which is a technology that turns lights green earlier for buses or 

extends green times until they clear the intersection 

Some corridors, including Dyer Street, Dorrance Street, and Eddy Street already have bus lanes, and 

new bus lanes are planned for future Rapid Bus projects. Where key bus routes operate, communities 

can also help by including transit priority in roadway projects and developers and property owners 

can assist by making right-of-way available.  

https://www.dot.ri.gov/projects/projects_programs_intiatives.php
https://www.dot.ri.gov/projects/projects_programs_intiatives.php


RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

19 

Figure 8 Bus Lane on Dorrance Street in Providence 

 

 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

20 

4 SERVICE COVERAGE AND 
APPROPRIATE SERVICE TYPES 

Two of the most fundamental decisions that RIPTA must make are where to provide transit and what 

types of transit to provide. These decisions are based on several factors, the most important of which 

are RIPTA’s financial capacity, patterns of demand for transit service throughout the region, and 

equity.  

RIPTA works to provide some level of service to all of Rhode Island’s developed areas based on 

population density, socioeconomic characteristics, and employment density. These characteristics 

also provide a strong indication of the types of services that should be provided in different areas. 

High population and employment densities can support high-capacity transit services such as light 

rail and Bus Rapid Transit, while low density areas are supportive of less frequent services such as 

microtransit or demand response service.  

POPULATION 
In places with high population densities, large concentrations of people will be able to easily access 

and use transit. Higher numbers of passengers, in turn, require higher volumes of transit service to 

serve effectively. More frequent service makes transit more convenient, further increasing ridership. 

Conversely, in places with low population densities, there are fewer people to use public transit, and 

the lower ridership does not support service that is as frequent as in higher density areas.   

As shown in Figure 9, population densities vary greatly throughout the region, with the highest 

population densities in:  

▪ Pawtucket  

▪ Central Falls  

▪ East Cranston  

▪ Woonsocket  

▪ Newport 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

21 

Figure 9 Rhode Island Population Density (2022) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

22 

Socioeconomic Characteristics 
For a number of reasons, many individuals are more or less likely to use transit. For example, many 

lower income households have less than one vehicle per adult, and people in these households will 

use transit to a much greater extent than people from wealthier households with more cars.  

For the purpose of determining what types of service to provide and where, RIPTA uses three 

socioeconomic characteristics that have proven to be particularly strong indicators of demand for 

transit:  

▪ Vehicle ownership  

▪ Household income  

▪ Race and ethnicity  

RIPTA uses American Community Survey data to quantify the impacts of these characteristics on 

transit use in Rhode Island and account for them when measuring population density. Demographic 

groups with a transit propensity greater than 1 are more likely to use transit than the general 

population. As shown in Table 1, people from households without cars are nearly 8 times more likely 

to use transit in Rhode Island, and black residents are twice as likely.  

Table 1 Relative Transit Propensity (2022) 

Socioeconomic 
Characteristic 

Propensity to Use Transit  
Relative to Rhode Island Average 

Vehicle Ownership 

No Car 7.70 

1 Vehicle 1.24 

2+ Vehicles 0.70 

Annual Income 

Less than $10,000 1.54 

$10,000 to $14,999 1.44 

$15,000 to $24,999 1.40 

$25,000 to $34,999 1.09 

$35,000 to $49,999 0.83 

$50,000-$64,999 0.83 

$60,000-$74,999 0.54 

$75,000 or Higher 0.86 

Race and Ethnicity 

White 0.73 

Black or African American 2.05 

Hispanic/Latino 1.43 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

23 

Asian (Not Hispanic/Latino) 1.22 

Other Race (Not Hispanic/Latino) 1.63 

Source: U.S. Census American Community Survey 5-year Estimates (2022) 

When considering these characteristics together, as shown in Figure 10, residents of the region’s 

capital are more likely to use transit, while residents of outer areas are much less likely to use transit. 

Areas where there are more residents likely to use transit include: 

▪ Providence 

▪ Central Falls 

▪ Pawtucket 

▪ Eastern Cranston 

▪ East Providence  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

24 

Figure 10 Relative Propensity to Use Transit Based on Socioeconomic Characteristics (2022) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

25 

RIPTA then uses these rates to adjust the population density figures to reflect these demographic 

differences by multiplying the population density of each block group by its total transit propensity. 

For example, an area with 10 residents per acre that has many zero-car households will have much 

higher transit demand than an area with 10 residents per acre and few households with zero cars. 

This adjusted population demand is shown in Figure 11. Areas with very high demand for transit 

based on a combination of population density and socioeconomic characteristics are concentrated 

in: 

▪ Providence  

▪ North Providence  

▪ Pawtucket  

▪ Central Falls  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

26 

Figure 11 Adjusted Population Density Based on Relative Transit Propensity (2022) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

27 

EMPLOYMENT 
Throughout Rhode Island, most car and transit trips are for commuting.  Consequently, employment 

levels and densities are another major indicator of where demand for transit service exists. As shown 

in Figure 12, employment densities are highest where there are larger concentrations of large 

employers and key activity centers such as hospitals, shopping centers, and universities. These areas 

include Providence, East Cranston, Warwick, and Pawtucket. Elsewhere, higher densities are scattered 

throughout the region (e.g., Smithfield, Lincoln). 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

28 

Figure 12 Employment Density by Census Block Group (2022) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

29 

Total Underlying Demand 

To gauge the total underlying demand for transit throughout the region, RIPTA combines the 

population density, socioeconomic characteristics, and employment density data to each Census 

block group in the region. The starting point for this is the population density figures, which are then 

adjusted up or down by applying the socioeconomic transit propensity rates to the number of 

residents in each socioeconomic category. Next, employment densities are multiplied by 2, which 

reflects the relative importance of job-related demand, and added to the adjusted population 

densities (see Figure 13).  

Figure 13 Development of Underlying Demand Estimates 

 

  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

30 

The resulting totals are then used as a Transit Demand Index, with the index values related to the 

underlying demand for transit in terms of Very High, High, Moderate, Low, and Very Low (see Table 

2). 

Table 2 Transit Demand Index and Underlying Transit Demand 

Transit Demand Index 

 (Combined Population + Employment per Acre) 
Transit Demand 

>45 Very High 

30-45 High 

15-30 Moderate 

10-15 Low 

<10 Very Low 

As described in the following section, areas with higher levels of Transit Demand can support more 

frequent and higher capacity service. Demand is particularly high in downtown Providence and areas 

surrounding Providence including Central Falls, Pawtucket, and Warwick. Outside of these areas 

demand is high in the southern part of the state including Newport, Quonset, and Bristol (see Figure 

14).  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

31 

Figure 14 Total Transit Demand by Census Block Group (2022) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

32 

Appropriate Service Types 

Underlying transit demand is strongly indicative of the types of transit services that are appropriate 

in different areas, with higher capacity and more frequent services in areas where underlying demand 

is high and lower capacity and less frequent service in areas where demand is lower (see Figure 15). 

As such, RIPTA uses the underlying transit demand information as a starting point to determine the 

types of services that should be provided. In doing so, RIPTA also considers other information such 

as the location of major activity centers like universities and other schools, and medical facilities, as 

well as travel patterns, (i.e., where people are traveling from to where they are traveling to).  

Figure 15 Underlying Transit Demand and Generally Appropriate Transit Types 

 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

33 

It should also be noted that reflective of the street network and built environment of Rhode Island, 

most RIPTA routes are long and serve many different areas where land uses and underlying demand 

vary. In these cases, routes are typically designed to match the predominant levels of their 

underlying demand. Additionally, in many areas, demand accumulates along a route as passengers 

board a route and stay on until it reaches its major destination. For example, passengers boarding a 

route in Warwick may stay on the bus until it arrives in downtown Providence, while others continue 

to board and few alight. Often, this dynamic creates demand for a higher level of service than the 

underlying demand in individual areas indicates and is another reason why travel patterns also play a 

role in how RIPTA designs transit service.



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

34 

5 SERVICE LEVELS 
For each type of service, RIPTA defines the minimum hours that service should operate and minimum 

service frequencies. In some cases, based on ridership levels and time of day demand, RIPTA will 

provide service for longer hours and more frequently than specified by the minimums. In other cases, 

based on actual ridership levels as well as financial constraints, RIPTA may also provide less service. 

SERVICE SPANS 
For people to be able to use transit, it must be available when they need it. Service spans by route 

type are presented in Table 3. These hours are targeted minimums. Actual hours on specific routes 

may be longer if demand warrants and funding is available. If demand is very low or funding 

shortfalls occur, some routes may operate shorter hours. 

Table 3 Minimum Span of Service Guidelines 

Service 

Day 

Light Rail 
Transit 
(LRT) 

Bus 
Rapid 
Transit 
(BRT) 

Rapid 
Bus 

Frequent 
Bus 

Local 
Bus* 

Regional 
Bus 

Flex 
Specialized 

Services 

W
ee

kd
ay

s Begin — — 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 6:00 AM 6:00 AM 5:45 AM — 

End — — 12:00 AM 11:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM 6:30 PM — 

S
at

ur
da

ys
 

Begin — — 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 10:00 AM — 

End — — 12:00 AM 11:00 PM 8:00 PM 11:00 PM 5:00 PM — 

S
un

da
ys

 

Begin — — 7:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 8:00 AM 10:00 AM — 

End — — 12:00 AM 9:00 PM 7:00 PM 10:00 PM 5:00 PM — 

Note: “—“ indicates that the guideline does not apply or that RIPTA currently does not operate a specific service type. 

*There are five (5) RIPTA routes that do not provide weekend service. For routes that do provide weekend service, 

minimum spans are as shown. 

LRT and BRT spans will be determined once those services begin operation. Specialized Service 

routes are set to match peak travel/demand and organized special event times, therefore there are 

no defined spans for this type of service. ADA Paratransit service operates during the same hours 

that the fixed route bus runs. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

35 

SERVICE FREQUENCIES AND ADVANCE 

RESERVATIONS 
Service frequencies, or the amount of time between buses, have a major influence on transit 

ridership. Frequent service is one of the key features that make transit attractive and convenient. At 

the same time, frequency is a major driver of operating costs, and frequent service is expensive to 

provide. To reflect this dynamic, RIPTA balances service frequencies with demand by providing more 

frequent service on routes where ridership is higher and less on routes where ridership is lower. 

Similarly, RIPTA also adjusts service frequencies by day and time-of-day to reflect changes in 

demand using the following time periods: 

▪ Early AM: 5 AM – 7 AM 

▪ AM Peak: 7 AM – 9 AM  

▪ Midday: 9 AM – 3 PM  

▪ PM Peak: 3 PM – 6 PM  

▪ Night: 6 PM – 12 AM  

▪ Saturday: 6 AM – 12 AM  

▪ Sunday: 7 AM – 12 AM 

For each time period, RIPTA sets service frequencies for a route using two primary considerations: 

▪ The minimum service frequencies are set based on the frequency guidelines presented in 

Table 4, to the extent that funding is available 

▪ Maximum loads, with additional service provided to ensure that the maximum number of 

people on the bus at any given time do not exceed the acceptable maximum loads presented 

in Chapter 6. 

The minimum service frequency guidelines set a floor on the amount of service provided with 

additional service provided as needed to ensure that routes are not overcrowded. Additionally, in 

corridors that are served by more than one route, RIPTA sets the frequencies on those routes to be 

the same so that service can be coordinated to provide more frequent service in the corridors than 

the individual routes provide – for example, two routes that operate every 30 minutes would be 

scheduled to alternate to provide service in the corridor every 15 minutes.  

Flex, Specialized, and RIde services do not operate with fixed schedules. In those cases, the amount 

of service that is provided is based on average wait times, with the average wait time guideline set 

relative to fixed-route wait times.  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

36 

Table 4 Minimum Service Frequencies 

 Early AM AM Peak Midday PM Peak Night Saturday Sunday 

Light Rail 
Transit 
(LRT) 

— — — — — — — 

Bus Rapid 
Transit 
(BRT) 

— — — — — — — 

Rapid Bus 30 10 10 10 30 15 15 

Frequent 
Bus 

30 15 15 15 30 20 20 

Local Bus 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 

Regional 
Bus 

60 30 30 30 60 60 60 

Specialized 
Services 

— — — — — — — 

Note: “—“ indicates that the guideline does not apply or that RIPTA currently does not operate a specific service type. 

For fixed-route services, this is because the service span guidelines do not require service during these periods. For 

they do not apply because service does not operate on a fixed-schedule. 

Paratransit and Flex Advance Reservations 

Paratransit Service   

Paratransit reservations can be made via phone (401) 461-9760 between 8:30 AM to 4:30 PM 

Monday through Saturday. Reservations may be placed on Sunday by leaving a detailed voicemail 

message between 8:30 AM and 4:30 PM. The RIde office is closed on RIPTA recognized holidays. 

A RIde Customer Service Agent will give riders a scheduled pick-up window upon booking their trip. 

Riders must be ready to be picked up at any time within the scheduled window. Please do not call 

the office to check on your ride during this 20-minute period. Some RIde trips are served by taxicabs.  

Flex Service  

Flex reservations can be made in advance (at least 24 hours before a trip) via phone (401) 784-9500 

ext. 1220. Reservations are required for riders choosing their own pick-up or drop-off point within 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

37 

the designated Flex Zone. Reservations are not required if a rider intends to board the Flex Vehicle at 

any of the scheduled Flex Stops within the Flex Zone. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

38 

6 SERVICE QUALITY 
Several factors influence the way riders view the quality of transit service. Two of the most important 

are on-time performance (OTP) and their ability to get a seat. 

ON-TIME PERFORMANCE 
Riders need to be able to rely on RIPTA to get them where they are going when they need to be 

there. RIPTA works to ensure that nearly all buses leave on time, but once they leave, events on the 

street mean that they often get delayed. These events include unusual traffic congestion, buses 

stopping at more red lights than usual, higher than typical ridership, higher than average numbers of 

wheelchair boardings, unplanned roadway construction, accidents, and passenger incidents, and 

more.  

For these reasons, RIPTA cannot ensure that all service is always on time. However, there are many 

things that RIPTA does to keep on-time performance as high as possible. For fixed-route services, 

these include: 

▪ Including enough time in schedules to ensure that late arrivals on one trip do not cause late 

departures on the next trip. 

▪ Including enough time in schedules to accommodate minor delays. 

▪ Setting timepoints at key points along the route where early buses hold until their scheduled 

departure time. This practice reflects that early service often impacts passengers more than 

late departures as the wait for the next bus is almost always longer than the short hold time. 

For fixed-bus routes, RIPTA measures on-time performance at each timepoint on a route, with on-

time defined as no more than one minute early and no more than five minutes late. RIPTA’s goal is 

that 80% of all service departs from each timepoint within this window.  

For rapid routes, on-time performance can be measured based on headway adherence which 

measures bunching and gapping:  

▪ Bunched is defined as less than two minutes between each bus 

▪ Gapped is defined as five minutes more than the expected headway 

  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

39 

Table 5 On-Time Performance Measures and Goals 

Type of Service On-Time Performance Goal 

Fixed-Route 80% of service no more than 1 minute early to 5 minutes late at timepoints 

Rapid Bus 

80% of service no more than 1 minute early to 5 minutes late at timepoints, 15% of 
service gapping, 5% of service bunching 

 

Flex  80% of service no more than 1 minute early to 5 minutes late at timepoints* 

Note*: For Flex service, scheduled arrivals at timepoints should serve as the primary benchmark for measuring on-

time performance (OTP). When a bus deviates from its route to accommodate passenger pick-ups or drop-offs, OTP 

should be adjusted to reflect the additional travel time incurred before arriving at the next scheduled timepoint. To 

ensure service reliability, buffer time should be incorporated into Flex route schedules to reflect variability caused by 

deviations. 

MAXIMUM PASSENGER LOADS  
Passenger volumes vary greatly along the length of most routes. For example, on some trips 

passengers board inbound trips and the number of people on board generally increases from only a 

few to full buses. On other routes, passengers board and alight all along the routes, and the number 

of passengers on board goes up and down. When scheduling service, RIPTA seeks to balance 

passenger comfort with service efficiency. In this context, service efficiency means minimizing the 

amount of excess capacity that is provided. 

For fixed-route services, vehicle load guidelines are calculated on the basis of an average for both 

peak and off-peak periods, at the busiest point on the route. RIPTA schedules services so that most 

passengers will have a seat for their entire trip. However, due to fluctuations in demand and when 

there are high numbers of people on a bus for a very short time, RIPTA considers some standing 

loads to be acceptable and schedules service so that, on a typical day, maximum loads should not 

exceed the levels shown in Table 6. For Flex and paratransit (RIde) services, which are provided with 

smaller vehicles that don’t have enough space or headroom for standees, these services should not 

exceed seating capacity. 

  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

40 

Table 6 Average Vehicle Loading Maximums   
 

Light Rail 
Transit 
(LRT) 

Bus 
Rapid 
Transit 

(BRT) 

Rapid 
Bus 

Frequent 
Bus 

Local 
Bus 

Regional 
Bus  

Flex Specialized 
Services 

Average Maximum Passenger Loading (as a percentage of seating capacity) 

Peak 120% 120% 120% 120% 120% 100% 100% 100% 

Off-Peak 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% — 

Note: Maximums are averages over one-hour periods; individual trips may exceed averages  

RIPTA’s 40’ transit buses are assigned to most RIPTA routes. RIPTA uses two different techniques to 

keep passenger loads at acceptable levels and to avoid overcrowding:  

▪ Match vehicle types with ridership levels, and to use larger vehicles on higher ridership 

routes.  

▪ Provide more frequent service, with service frequencies set to keep passenger loads within a 

specified calculated limit. 

Table 7  Vehicle Capacities  

 
60’ 

Articulated 
Bus 

40’ Bus 35’ Bus 29’ Bus 35’ Trolley 
Flex 

Vehicle 

100% of Seating 
Capacity 

55 40 32 28 28 12* 

120% of Seating 
Capacity 

66 48 38 33 34 — 

Note: RIPTA does not currently operate articulated vehicles but may do so in the future.  

* Capacity for two wheelchairs in addition to seated capacity  

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

41 

7 PRODUCTIVITY 
RIPTA must use its resources effectively and all routes should achieve a minimum level of 

productivity. The two primary guidelines to assess performance include: 

1. Productivity in terms of “Passengers per Revenue Vehicle Hour” for most services, and 

“Passengers per Trip” for Regional and Express/Commuter services that typically carry 

passengers for long distances with little passenger turnover. 

2. Cost-Effectiveness, in terms of Farebox Return, which is the percentage of operating 

expenses recouped by farebox revenues. 

PASSENGERS PER REVENUE HOUR OR TRIP 
RIPTA measures productivity in terms of the number of passengers its vehicles serve while they are in 

service, with very high volumes expected for frequent services and much lower volumes expected for 

services for specialty markets (Table 8). 

Table 8 Productivity Guidelines by Service Type  

 Passengers Per Revenue Service Hour Passengers Per Trip 

Service Day 
Light Rail 

Transit 
(LRT) 

Bus Rapid 
Transit 
(BRT) 

Rapid 
Bus 

Frequent 
Bus 

Local Bus Flex 
Regional 

Bus 
Specialized 

Services 

W
ee

kd
ay

s 

Early 
Morning 

— — 20 15 10 5 15 — 

Late Night — — 20 15 10 5 15 — 

All Day — — 50 35 15 5 20 — 

S
at

u
rd

ay
s 

Early 
Morning 

— — 20 10 10 5 15 — 

Late Night — — 20 10 10 5 15 — 

All Day — — 30 20 10 5 15 — 

S
u

n
d

ay
s 

Early 
Morning 

— — 20 10 10 5 15 — 

Late Night — — 20 10 10 5 15 — 

All Day — — 30 15 10 5 15 — 

Note: “—“ indicates that the guideline does not apply or that RIPTA currently does not operate a specific service type. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

42 

Productivity is one of the most important measures that RIPTA uses to determine route classification 

and when to provide more or less service. Specialized services are not included in Table 8 as these 

services can be provided with a variety of vehicles. However, RIPTA schedules these services so that 

buses will be full or nearly full. Another exception is paratransit, which is mandated by federal law. 

RIPTA internally tracks the productivity of paratransit service and works to maximize it wherever 

possible but there is no minimum productivity target. 

▪ When routes significantly exceed the productivity minimums, RIPTA works to provide 

more service. This is done in two different ways. The first is to ensure that the route meets 

the service frequency minimums for all time periods. The second is to shift the route into a 

higher service classification and to increase service frequencies and spans to corresponding 

levels. 

▪ When routes do not meet productivity minimums, RIPTA first works to identify service 

improvements that could increase ridership so that it would meet the minimum target. RIPTA 

may also consider reducing non-weekday daytime frequencies if productivity during those 

days or hours is significantly dragging down overall performance, creating an exception to 

the minimum service frequencies outlined in Table 4.  

FAREBOX RECOVERY 
RIPTA uses farebox recovery percentages to understand how much of the agency’s operating costs 

are recovered from fares – this metric is not compared by service type or route. Farebox recovery 

ratios are a measure of cost effectiveness that considers the ratio of service inputs to service 

consumption and measures how well the service is being utilized (Table 9). 

Table 9 Minimum Farebox Recovery  

Service 
Day 

Light Rail 
Transit 
(LRT) 

Bus Rapid 
Transit 
(BRT) 

Rapid Bus 
Frequent 

Bus 
Local Bus Flex 

Regional 
Bus 

Specialized 

Services 

Weekday – – 30% 20% 20% 5% – – 

Saturday – – 20% 15% 15% 5% – – 

Sunday – – 20% 15% 15% 5% – – 

Note: “—“ indicates that the guideline does not apply or that RIPTA currently does not operate a specific service type. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

43 

8 SERVICE EVALUATION AND 
CHANGES 

In order to provide the best service, RIPTA systematically evaluates its services on an ongoing basis 

using the guidelines presented in this document. This chapter describes the processes that RIPTA 

uses for evaluating new and mature routes. 

Changes in funding levels can also result in service changes. For example, additional funding can 

support increased service frequencies and spans. And reduced funding must necessarily result in 

reductions to service frequencies and spans. This chapter also includes the prioritization process for 

adding or removing service in response to changed service levels. 

REGULAR SERVICE CHANGE PROCESS 
RIPTA has two processes for evaluating service changes on a regular basis. When funding is stable, 

RIPTA follows these processes to ensure that service is being delivered in the most efficient and cost-

effective way possible: 

1. A process for mature routes, or those that have been in operation for at least three years. 

These routes are considered to be mature in that – as currently designed – they have reached 

their full ridership potential. 

2. A process for new routes that are not yet mature. It takes a minimum of six months to a year 

for people to learn about a new route, and often up to three years. RIPTA uses the three-year 

threshold to ensure that all new services are given the full amount of time needed to reach 

their full potential. 

Evaluation Process for Established Routes 
All mature routes and services, or those that have been in operation for at least three years, are 

evaluated annually. The evaluation assesses the degree to which each route and service meets the 

guidelines set forth in this document. For routes that perform well, this is often a high-level 

assessment, with more detailed analysis focused on routes that are either underperforming or 

overperforming. In these cases, RIPTA examines ridership, productivity, and passengers loads by 

route segment, and on a monthly, daily, and per trip basis.  

Underperforming Routes 
Most routes perform consistently with the service categories. RIPTA evaluates these routes on a 

regular basis to determine whether changes could be made to make service more attractive. These 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

44 

types of changes include alignment and zone changes, service frequency and span adjustments, 

extensions to new areas, timing adjustments to improve on-time performance, and the use of high-

capacity vehicles to reduce crowding. 

For routes or services that perform below their productivity targets, RIPTA starts by considering 

several types of different changes: 

▪ Alignment and Zone Changes: RIPTA’s first step in examining underperforming fixed-route 

services is to examine productivity by segment. This helps to identify whether routes extend 

too far outward or whether some inner segments are underperforming. In cases where outer 

segments are underperforming, RIPTA may introduce a short trip/long trip strategy in which 

all service operates along most of the route and only some trips operate to the outer end or 

shorten the route altogether. There are generally fewer opportunities to revise middle 

segments of routes, but RIPTA also examines these as appropriate and consistent with the 

service design principles presented in Chapter 3. For zone-based services such as 

microtransit, RIPTA examines pick-up and drop-off locations, which can indicate whether 

zone boundary adjustments should be made. 

▪ Route Reclassifications: RIPTA also uses productivity and loading measures to determine 

whether routes should be reclassified. In the case of underperforming routes, this would be a 

reclassification to a lower category, with the reclassification triggering changes to service 

frequencies and service spans.  

▪ Frequency and Span of Service Adjustments: As described earlier in this document, 

frequencies and spans are primarily set based on a route's or service's service classification. 

However, if a route or service is underperforming and ridership is low during only certain 

periods, RIPTA could reduce service frequencies during those periods and/or shorten the 

span of services. 

▪ Elimination or consolidation: In cases where RIPTA cannot identify any ways to operate a 

route or service consistent with the service guidelines, it could be eliminated or have its most 

productive segments or zone areas consolidated with another route.  

▪ Exceptions to the Service Guidelines: These service guidelines provide a framework 

through which RIPTA designs and delivers its services. However, there are sometimes cases 

where exceptions are warranted, and RIPTA will make exceptions that are consistent with the 

spirit of the guidelines (for example, the service and span adjustments described above). 

When routes are modified, their performance will be tracked to determine whether they have been 

brought into compliance with the service guidelines or are trending that way. Routes that still fail to 

meet the productivity guidelines within a year will be re-evaluated for additional changes. 

Overperforming Routes 

Overperforming routes are those that operate with productivity levels that do or could exceed the 

minimum productivity target for the next highest service category. This, in turn, indicates that, 

subject to available funding, additional service should be provided. This can be done in two ways: 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

45 

▪ Route Reclassifications: The route can be reclassified to the next highest category, with the 

reclassification triggering changes to service frequencies and service spans.  

▪ Frequency and Span of Service Adjustments: If ridership is particularly high during some 

periods but not at the levels that would be expected at the next higher classification, RIPTA 

can improve service frequencies during those periods and/or lengthen the span of services. 

In cases where trips are overcrowded, RIPTA can alleviate crowding by either providing more 

frequent service or providing service with larger vehicles. Generally, it is less expensive to increase 

vehicle size than increase frequencies. However, more frequent service is more convenient for 

passengers as it reduces wait and transfer times and reduces running times as passengers are 

distributed among more trips, which reduces dwell times. For these reasons, RIPTA prefers to 

increase frequencies to reduce crowding and generally only shifts to the use of larger vehicles on 

routes that already operate every 20 minutes or better or that experience very concentrated spikes in 

passenger loads, such as around high school bell times. 

Evaluation Process for New and Upgraded Routes 

New routes and those that have recently been upgraded take time to reach their full ridership 

potential – sometimes up to three years. During this period, RIPTA tracks performance to ensure that 

productivity is trending toward meeting the productivity target within the three-year timeframe. The 

expectations for each route are shown in Table 10. 

Table 10  Productivity Targets for New and Upgraded Routes 

Milestone Minimum Productivity Target   

First 6 months Monitor monthly ridership 

6 Months 50% of minimum productivity guideline 

12 Months 75% of minimum productivity guideline 

2 Years 90% of minimum productivity guideline 

3 Years Fully meet minimum productivity guideline 

RIPTA will also consider the likelihood of whether a route will be able to meet the productivity 

targets when considering the introduction of a new route or service and will only implement new 

routes that it believes can be successful on this basis. Finally, new or modified routes that fail to meet 

the targets will be considered underperforming and subject to the actions described above in the 

Underperforming Routes section. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

46 

SERVICE CHANGES RELATED TO CHANGES 

IN FUNDING LEVELS 
RIPTA’s Transit Master Plan lays out a plan for future service investments as additional resources and 

funding become available. The short-, mid-, and long-term service improvements recommended 

within the plan address RIPTA’s top service priorities while allowing for flexibility in the case of 

funding opportunities or cost constraints. RIPTA will need to conduct an ongoing evaluation on the 

performance of its routes to understand which routes and zones should be prioritized for an increase 

in service or, in the case of reduced funding, should be prioritized for decreased service. This section 

describes the processes RIPTA follows when funding levels fluctuate. 

1. When funding is anticipated to be meaningfully higher so that RIPTA can operate additional 

revenue hours of service.  

2. When funding is anticipated to be insufficient to continue operating current service levels, 

RIPTA will be forced to reduce service.  

When Additional Funding Comes Available 
Additional funding can be used to add service so that existing services meet the frequency, span of 

service, and load guidelines presented in this document. Additional funding can also be used to 

further increase service on the best performing routes. In some cases, RIPTA may want to use 

additional funding to introduce new services. 

Ensure Existing Services Conform to Service Guidelines 

Most RIPTA routes meet their productivity targets. However, due to financial constraints, some 

operate less frequently and/or for shorter hours than set forth in these service guidelines. When 

additional funding is available, RIPTA places a high priority on improving service frequencies and 

extending spans of service to meet the frequency and span guidelines. 

Add More Service to High Performing Routes 

Many routes exceed their productivity targets while conforming to the minimum span of service, 

frequency, and load guidelines laid out in this document. RIPTA can add additional service frequency 

or expand the span of service on the highest performing routes to improve the convenience of the 

region’s most popular and effective services. 

Introduce New Service to New Areas 

Due to funding constraints, there may exist some regions or corridors where RIPTA would like to 

provide service but cannot. RIPTA can leverage additional funding to expand service to new areas. 

When introducing new service, RIPTA follows the service design guidelines laid out in this document. 

Any new services are subject to RIPTA’s productivity guidelines. 

https://www.ripta.com/transit-forward-ri-program/


RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

47 

When Funding Levels are Reduced 
In cases where funding is reduced and service must be reduced, RIPTA focuses on making reductions 

on routes and services that are the least productive and serve the fewest riders in a manner 

consistent with the Federal Transit Administration’s Title VI requirements. However, exceptions can 

be made within suburban and rural areas that have lower transit demand. In these areas, other 

service types should be explored to better match transit demand and needs to increase productivity 

while maintaining coverage. 

 

There are several ways that RIPTA can reduce service, which include: 

▪ Reducing service spans 

▪ Reducing service frequencies 

▪ Restructuring routes and services 

▪ Discontinuing service 

Reducing Service Spans 

For fixed-route service, RIPTA examines ridership per trip at the beginning and end of service routes 

to determine if there are trips or times where ridership is low. In these cases, RIPTA will start service 

later or end service earlier. A similar approach is used for microtransit, except that the examination is 

based on passengers per revenue vehicle hour instead of per trip. 

TITLE VI 
FTA Circular 4702.1B requires that recipients of Federal Transit Administration funding prepare and 

submit service equity analyses for proposed major service changes or any fare change. The 

purpose of this policy is to establish a threshold which identifies when the adverse effects of a fare 

change or major service change, (defined as a 25% or greater) addition or reduction in service, are 

borne disproportionately by minority populations. The Disparate Impact threshold is defined as 

follows: Should the impact of any major service change require a minority population to bear 

adverse effects (20% more or less than those adverse effects borne by the non-minority 

population), that impact will be considered a disparate impact. Should a proposed major service 

change result in disparate impact, RIPTA will consider modifying the proposed change to avoid, 

minimize or mitigate the disparate impact of the change. If RIPTA finds potential disparate impacts 

and then modifies the proposed changes to avoid, minimize or mitigate potential disparate 

impacts, RIPTA will reanalyze the proposed changes to determine whether the modification 

actually removed the potential disparate impacts of the changes. RIPTA’s Title VI policy can be 

found online at https://www.ripta.com/civil-rights-title-vi/. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

48 

Reducing Service Frequencies/Increasing Wait Times 

To determine whether frequency reductions should be made, RIPTA starts by examining ridership per 

revenue vehicle hour for each route and microtransit service over the course of each service day to 

identify periods and trips where ridership may be particularly low. In cases where it is, RIPTA then 

identifies options for reducing service – for example, service on a 30-minute route could be reduced 

to every 40 minutes for all or part of the day on weekdays, Saturdays, and/or Sundays. Similarly, wait 

times on microtransit could be increased from 30 to 40 minutes. When RIPTA must make service 

reductions in this manner, it seeks to minimize the timespan over which the reductions are made.  

In determining how to reduce service, RIPTA uses the guidelines in the Maximum Passenger Loads 

and performance relative to the guidelines. For example, RIPTA would target reductions on a route 

that performs farther below the guideline before on a route that operates just below the guideline. 

When implementing reductions, RIPTA also ensures that they will not create crowding problems 

Restructuring Routes 

Services may be restructured to reduce costs by discontinuing or reducing service to low ridership 

locations. The primary types of changes that RIPTA considers are: 

▪ Changes to fixed-route service to discontinue service to lower ridership locations. This 

includes alignment changes, shortening routes, and branching strategies. 

▪ Reductions in the size of microtransit zones 

Discontinuing Service 

As a last resort, RIPTA will consider discontinuing routes and microtransit services. When this must be 

done, RIPTA focuses on reducing service in a manner that will impact the fewest people, and in 

particular lower performing routes that operate in areas where there are other alternative services. 

  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

49 

9 BUS STOPS 
RIPTA’s Bus Stop Design Guide (BSDG) provides bus stop-related guidance to planners, engineers, 

landscape architects and others in establishing bus stop zones that support RIPTA’s operational 

needs, meet ADA requirements, provide rider comfort, and maintain a safe pedestrian environment.   

For more specific bus-stop related content including bus stop placement, stop configuration, RIPTA’s 

accessibility guidelines, and amenities and placement criteria, readers of the service guidelines 

should reference RIPTA’s BSDG to improve access and mobility within a community, and to ensure 

that operational changes do not negatively impact rider accessibility and safety available. RIPTA’s Bus 

Stops Design Guide (2024) is available on RIPTA’s website [Link].  

BUS STOP SPACING  
The distance between stops impacts travel times, reliability, and passenger walk distances to and 

from stops. On one hand, more closely spaced stops provide customers with more convenient 

access. However, closely spaced stops are a major reason that transit service is slower than 

automobile trips, since each additional stop with activity requires the bus to decelerate, come to a 

complete stop, load and unload riders, and then accelerate and re-merge into traffic. Closely spaced 

stops also make service more unreliable. Trips that stop at more stops are faster, while those that 

stop at fewer stops are faster. This creates gaps in service as well as bus bunching. Since most riders 

want service that balances the convenience of walk distances with speed and reliability, the number 

and location of stops is a key component of determining that balance.  

RIPTA provides different types of transit services that are tailored toward serving different types of 

trips and needs. In general, services that emphasize speed (e.g. Rapid Bus and Express routes) should 

have fewer stops, while services that emphasize accessibility should have more frequent stops.  

The minimum stop spacing (or maximum stops per mile) are shown in Table 11. Where multiple 

routes operate in the same corridor, the guideline for the higher service type should be applied. 

Exceptions to these guidelines should only be made in locations where walking conditions are 

particularly dangerous, significant topographical challenges impede pedestrian access, and factors 

compromise safe bus operations and dwelling. 

  

https://www.ripta.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/RIPTA-Bus-Stop-Design-Guide_FINAL_240528.pdf


RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

50 

Table 11 Bus Stop Spacing Guidelines 

Measure 
Light Rail 

Transit 
(LRT) 

 

Bus Rapid 
Transit 
(BRT) 

 

Rapid  
Bus 

Frequent 
Bus 

Local Bus Regional 
Specialized 

Services 

Minimum 
Distance 
between 

Stops (Feet) 

— — 1,100 - 1,300 900 - 1,300 900 - 1,300 900 - 1,100 — 

Maximum 
Stops per 

Mile 
— — 5 6 6 6 — 

Note: “—“ indicates that the guideline does not apply or that RIPTA currently does not operate a specific service type. 

Stop Location Considerations  

▪ Stop Pairing – locating stops in pairs makes service easier and more predictable to use and 

stops easier to maintain.  Stop pairs serving should ideally be situated across the street from 

one another so that riders can easily locate the stop for their return trip.   

▪ Stop-to-Stop Connectivity – stop pairs should ideally be connected via a crosswalk so that 

riders have safe crossings for both directions of their trip.  The addition of a crosswalk to 

connect bus stops should be evaluated using Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Safe 

Transportation for Every Pedestrian (STEP) guidance and will need to be approved by the 

municipality, or on RIDOT roadways by the State Traffic Commission.  

▪ Even Stop Spacing – Optimal stop spacing is more or less equidistant and maximizes 

efficiency of the service.  

▪ Adequate Stop Length – When adjusting existing stops or placing new stops, the curbside 

space available must allow for buses to enter and exit a bus stop, and to become parallel 

with the curb so that riders can board and alight the vehicle safely.     

Users of these service guidelines are encouraged to review RIPTA’s stop spacing policy, shown in 

Table 11 for bus stop improvements.  

  



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

51 

BUS STOP TYPOLOGIES  

RIPTA Bus Stop Types  
RIPTA provides bus service to many unique communities and neighborhoods in Rhode Island and 

varying land uses including urban, rural, suburban, and historic. These factors create a range of 

operating environments that influence the levels of service provided, ridership volumes, and travel 

patterns. There are six bus stop types described in Table 12, this typology categorizes RIPTA bus 

stops by operational characteristics, service frequency, ridership, and adjacent land uses.  

Table 12 RIPTA Bus Stop Typologies 

Stop Type Description 

Transit Center/ 
Mobility Hubs   

Transit centers and mobility hubs typically have at least two bus berths with a high level of passenger 
amenity. These stops provide connections to other routes and other transit services or modes of travel 
(e.g., MBTA Commuter Rail), and provide a comfortable waiting environment for riders as well as 
additional amenities for RIPTA staff during layovers and breaks. 

Downtown Transit 
Connector (DTC)   

Stops that are designed with a unique and highly-visible identity and serve high-frequency transit 
service (5 minutes or better) between the Providence Train Station and the Hospital District. This stop 
type is located along a high-frequency corridor with transit priority elements including dedicated bus 
lanes and transit signal priority.  

Transit Emphasis 
Corridor Stops 
(TEC) 

Stops on corridors with high-frequency routes (10 minutes or better) with direct and efficient service. 
These stops are most likely to be served by 3 or more routes, with truncated service. These stops are in 
dense neighborhoods that are very walkable and provide connections between major activity centers.  

High Activity Stops  Stops where ridership experiences 50 to 75 average daily boarding and/or adjacent to a major trip 
generator (e.g., hospital, university)  

Standard Stops  Stops that are typical within Rhode Island with lower ridership volumes. 

Park & Ride Lots  Park & Ride lots are mostly located in suburban and rural environments that allow riders to park their 
vehicle and transfer to RIPTA local and express bus routes for the remainder of their trip. Park & Ride 
lots may be located on private property or RIPTA-owned right-of-way) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

52 

In addition to the descriptions shown in Table 12, Figure 16 summarizes the required, preferred, and 

optional amenities for all bus stop types. This table provides guidance for the acceptable amenities 

at each stop type but should only be placed/considered if all amenities adhere to RIPTA’s 

accessibility requirements. 

Figure 16 RIPTA Bus Stop Types and Required, Preferred, and Optional Amenities  

 

Source: RIPTA Bus Stop Design Guide (2024) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

53 

10  SERVICE PARTNERSHIPS 

RIPTA seeks to provide as much transit service as possible, although demand for transit service 

consistently exceeds currently available resources. One way that RIPTA works to provide additional 

service is through service partnerships in which jurisdictions, businesses, schools and universities, 

event organizers, human service organizations, and others provide funding for additional services 

and transit-related programs. Current examples in Rhode Island include partnerships with institutions 

of higher education (U-PASS) for funding free transit passes for students, faculty, and staff. Examples 

from other areas include Seattle, where Amazon funded more frequent streetcar service and the city 

provided funding for Rapid Bus lines and more frequent bus service, and Rochester, New York, where 

office parks have funded more frequent service and route extensions. 

Through service partnerships, RIPTA can leverage additional resources to expand and improve transit 

service. RIPTA encourages a number of different types of service partnerships, examples of which 

include: 

▪ Funding for expanded service, which can include longer hours of service, more frequent 

service, route extensions, and new routes 

▪ Funding for capital improvements, such as upgrading local routes to Rapid Bus 

▪ Development of transit priority as part of roadway projects 

▪ Development of bus stop facilities and amenities 

▪ Fare subsidy programs 

RIPTA will consider all proposals for service partnerships and encourages partners to be creative and 

innovative. The types of partnerships that are particularly important to RIPTA are those that: 

▪ Improve service to high-need populations, such as low-income residents, people who live in 

households with no or few cars, veterans, and seniors. 

▪ Fill gaps in RIPTA’s existing network – for example, microtransit service to supermarkets and 

medical facilities for people who live more than ¼ mile from fixed-route transit 

▪ Expand service to new areas – for example route extensions and microtransit services that 

provide first and last mile connections to the fixed route network 

▪ Improve service quality – for example, more frequent service, longer hours of service on 

existing services and route extensions 

▪ Help RIPTA meet local funding requirements for major capital initiatives such as light rail, 

BRT, and Rapid Bus. 

▪ Fund or facilitate the development of transit priority 

▪ Improve service for the general public in addition to any specifically targeted markets – for 

example, an extension to an office park that would also serve other riders along the way. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

54 

Assessment and Prioritization of Partnership Proposals 

RIPTA assesses and prioritizes service partnership proposals based on: 

▪ Proposed funding 

▪ Projected ridership and productivity 

▪ The degree to which proposed services and programs would complement RIPTA’s existing 

services 

▪ Consistency with the service guidelines presented in this document 

▪ Provision of better service for people from high need populations 

▪ Financial capacity and vehicle availability 

In addition, fares for all partnership services must be consistent with RIPTA’s fare structure. However, 

partners can subsidize or make payments in lieu of fares for their clientele. 

Proposed Funding 

RIPTA does not have any set funding requirements for service partnerships. However, the amount of 

funding that project proponents will contribute is an important factor in RIPTA’s prioritization of 

partnerships. In cases where project proponents propose to fund all costs and RIPTA has the capacity 

to implement the service, it will generally do so. In cases where partial funding is proposed, and as 

described in more detail in the following sections, RIPTA will weigh the proposed partnership against 

other service improvement opportunities. 

Projected Ridership and Cost-Effectiveness 

RIPTA regularly expands its services based on available resources and decisions to enter into service 

partnerships would be in lieu of other improvements. For this reason, for service-related 

partnerships, RIPTA will weigh the cost-effectiveness of the proposed service, in terms of net cost per 

passenger, relative to other potential improvements. RIPTA will also weigh the number of high need 

residents who would be served relative to other potential improvements.  

Integration with Existing Services 

As described in this document, RIPTA operates a large and expanding variety of services that are 

designed to meet a variety of service needs. All service partnerships improvements should build 

upon this existing network in a manner that complements existing services. 

Compliance with Service Guidelines 

All services provided through service partnerships must be consistent with the frequency and span of 

service guidelines presented in this document. The service should also meet the productivity 

guidelines unless partner funding contributions offset lower productivity levels. The additional 

funding required to offset lower productivity should be equal to or greater than the difference 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

55 

between the fare revenue that would be generated at the minimum productivity levels versus actual 

productivity. 

Service to Disadvantaged Populations 

A large proportion of RIPTA’s riders are from disadvantaged populations for whom better transit 

means better access to opportunities, which is an important priority for RIPTA. 

Financial Capacity and Vehicle Availability 

For all service partnerships, RIPTA must determine that it has the financial capacity to implement the 

improvement, and as applicable, has enough vehicles available to operate the proposed service. In 

most cases, this would be accomplished by implementing service partnership improvements in lieu 

of other improvements. However, there may be cases in which service partners would need to 

provide additional funding, including for the purchase of the required vehicles. 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

 

11  APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A: SERVICE MAPS FIXED-ROUTE 

TRANSIT 
 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

 

Figure 17 RIPTA Statewide System Map (2022) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

 

Figure 18 RIPTA Metro Providence System Map (2022) 

 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

 

APPENDIX B: EXISTING SERVICES BY TYPE 
This appendix includes a list of all existing RIPTA services categorized by service type (as of July 

2024). 

Table 13 Existing Services by Type 

Route Number Route Name Service Type 

1 Eddy/Hope/Benefit Frequent Route 

20 Elmwood Ave/T.F. Green Airport Frequent Route 

27 Broadway/Manton Frequent Route 

28 Broadway/Hartford Frequent Route 

31 Cranston St Frequent Route 

50 Douglas Ave/Bryant University Frequent Route 

56 Chalkstone Ave Frequent Route 

92 RI College/Federal Hill/East Side Frequent Route 

3 Oakland Beach Local Route 

4 Warwick Neck Local Route 

6 Prairie/Roger Williams Park Zoo Local Route 

13 Coventry/Arctic/CCRI Local Route 

16 Bald Hill/NEIT/ Quonset Local Route 

18 Union Ave Local Route 

19 Plainfield/Westminster Local Route 

21 Reservoir/Garden City/CCRI Local Route 

22 Pontiac Ave Local Route 

23 Arctic/Crompton/Centre of NE Local Route 

29 CCRI Warwick/Conimicut Local Route 

32 E. Prov/Wampanoag/Seekonk Sq. Local Route 

33 Riverside Local Route 

34 East Providence/Seekonk Square Local Route 

35 Rumford/Newport Ave Local Route 

40 Butler/Elmgrove Local Route 

51 Charles St/Twin River/CCRI Local Route 

55 Admiral/Providence College Local Route 

57 Smith St Local Route 

58 Mineral Spring/North Providence Local Route 



RIPTA TRANSIT SERVICE GUIDELINES 

 

 

63 Broadway/Middletown Shops Local Route 

64 Newport/URI Kingston Local Route 

67 Bellevue/Salve Regina Univ. Local Route 

68 CCRI NPT/Mem. Blvd./First Beach Local Route 

69 Narragansett / Galilee Local Route 

71 Broad St/Pawtucket Ave Local Route 

72 Weeden/Central Falls Local Route 

73 Mineral Spring/Twin River/CCRI Local Route 

75 Dexter/Lincoln Mall Local Route 

76 Central Ave Local Route 

78 Beverage Hill Ave/East Providence Local Route 

80 Armistice Blvd Local Route 

87 Fairmount/Walnut Hill Local Route 

11 R-Line Broad/North Main Rapid Bus Route 

14 West Bay Regional Route 

54 Lincoln/Woonsocket Regional Route 

60 Providence/Newport Regional Route 

66 URI / CCRI Warwick / Providence Regional Route 

9X Pascoag Park & Ride Specialized Service 

10X North Scituate Park & Ride Specialized Service 

12X Arctic/117 Express Park & Ride Specialized Service 

24L Newport/Fall River/Providence Specialized Service 

59X N. Smithfield/Lincoln Mall Park & Ride Specialized Service 

61X Tiverton/East Bay Park & Ride Specialized Service 

65X Wakefield Park & Ride Specialized Service 

88 Simmons Village Service Specialized Service 

89 Thursday Only Walmart Cranston Specialized Service 

95X Westerly Park & Ride Specialized Service 

QX Quonset Express Specialized Service 

204 Westerly Flex Flex Service 

231 South Aquidneck Flex Flex Service 

242 West Warwick/Coventry Flex Flex Service 

281 Woonsocket/Manville Flex Flex Service 

282 Pascoag/Slatersville Flex Flex Service 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	Agenda - BOD 01-23-25
	BOD - Meeting Minutes - 12-19-2024
	CEO Report 01_2025 (1)
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8

	Board Resolution Regarding Federal Transit Administration Awards of Financial Assistance
	SKM_C65925011714170
	2025 Service Guidelines



